## REGULATION OF INTRACELLULAR FREE MAGNESIUM IN CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM INJURY

### **Robert Vink and Ibolja Cernak**

Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, James Cook University, Townsville, Queensland, 4811, Australia

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Brain injury
- 3.1. Brain magnesium following injury
  3.2. Blood free magnesium following brain injury
  4. Experimental treatment strategies in brain injury
  - 4.1. Magnesium therapy
  - 4.2 .Other treatment strategies
- 5. The role of magnesium
- 6. Clinical studies
- 7. Mechanistic considerations
- 8. Conclusion
- 9. References

## 1. ABSTRACT

Traumatic injury to the central nervous system (CNS) initiates an autodestructive cascade of biochemical and pathophysiological changes that ultimately results in irreversible tissue damage. Known as secondary injury, this delayed injury process is multifactorial in nature and it is generally thought that the simultaneous attenuation of a number of the secondary injury factors will be required for interventional therapies to have a significant beneficial effect on outcome. This review summarizes the growing body of evidence that suggests that magnesium plays a pivotal role in the secondary injury process following CNS trauma, affecting a number of secondary injury factors including neurotransmitter release and activity, ion changes, oxidative stress, protein synthesis, and energy metabolism. By having effects on such a range of secondary injury factors following trauma, pharmacological studies have shown that magnesium may be an effective therapy following neurotrauma, improving survival, motor outcome and alleviating cognitive deficits.

### 2. INTRODUCTION

A number of studies have now demonstrated that magnesium plays a critical role in the injury process following traumatic injury to the Central Nervous System (CNS). Indeed, alterations in free magnesium concentration associated with the development of a functional deficit was first demonstrated in traumatic brain injury. Following this initial observation in brain, it has become generally accepted that the concentration of the free ion can indeed change *in vivo*, and that such changes can have functional effects in a variety of tissues. The discovery that free magnesium is not constant in the body under pathophysiological conditions has now opened the door to interventional studies that are only now being conducted. One area under intense investigation is brain injury.

### 3. BRAIN INJURY

Injury to the brain with subsequent development of neurologic deficits may be the result of various insults including hypoxia, anoxia, stroke, hypoglycemia and trauma, amongst others. Traumatic injury, in itself, may in fact encompass all of the other insults as a consequence the initial traumatic event. Accordingly, it is one of the most complicated forms of brain injury and, not surprisingly, no pharmacologic intervention has been developed to date that is generally accepted as an effective therapy. A number of animal models have been devised to study the mechanisms associated with formation of irreversible tissue damage after trauma in the hope of developing an effective therapeutic intervention. A complete description of these various models is beyond the scope of the present review and readers are referred to some excellent articles elsewhere (1-3). Suffice to say that all of these models produce the resultant neurologic deficits though two broadly defined mechanisms: primary mechanisms and secondary mechanisms (4, 5). Primary mechanisms include those mechanical events that occur at the time of the traumatic insult including hemorrhage, axonal stretching, shearing, tearing and laceration (6). While these events can be prevented with the use of helmets, seat belts and other protective devices, no therapeutic interventions targeting the primary mechanisms can be initiated after the traumatic primary event. Secondary events, on the other hand, occur between minutes and days after the primary



Figure 1. Schematic diagram of cellular secondary responses to both direct and indirect neurotrauma.

insult and include biochemical and physiologic iterations that are initiated at the time of trauma (5, 7). These secondary events include, but are not limited to, changes in neurotransmitters, ions, oxidative stress, blood flow, edema and energy failure (Figure 1). Moreover, secondary injury mechanisms need not be activated exclusively by direct primary injury to the brain. Indeed, they may also be initiated in the CNS following peripheral injury. For example, peripheral blast trauma results in secondary alterations in the brain (8) presumably by the action of, amongst others, autacoids that are released into the systemic circulation, by afferent hyperexcitability, or by enhanced neurotransmitter release. Irrespective of whether the secondary mechanisms associated with brain injury were initiated by either direct or indirect means, there exists an opportunity to prevent, or at least attenuate, the damage that results to the brain from the delayed secondary injury cascade using appropriate pharmacologic interventions (9). However, given the multifactorial nature of the secondary injury process, it is unlikely that targeting a single factor will result in any significant improvement in outcome, particularly in human brain injury. Hence, targeting several factors using an interventional cocktail, or using drugs that affect a number of secondary factors, is considered the most likely method of improving outcome (10). Recent evidence suggests one such multifactorial intervention is the magnesium cation which has been reported to have affects on a number of secondary injury factors (11, 12).

#### 3.1. Magnesium in brain injury

Over the past decade, a number of studies in brain injury have conclusively demonstrated that magnesium decline after trauma is associated with neuronal cell death and functional impairment (8, 11, 13, 14). The first of these was reported in 1987 by Vink et al. (15). These authors used in vivo magnetic resonance spectroscopy to demonstrate that intracellular brain free magnesium declined by up to 60% following moderate traumatic brain injury in rats. While the significance of this decline may not at face value be obvious to many researchers, when converted into a logarithmic scale and compared to a more familiar parameter such as pH, the magnitude of the change after trauma is clearly very significant (Figure 2). Few would challenge the philosophy that pH changes of this magnitude in the brain would need urgent correction. In contrast, changes of this magnitude in free magnesium concentration were not considered critical largely because of the belief that magnesium was



**Figure 2.** Changes in pH and pMg following moderate traumatic brain injury in rats. No significant changes in brain pH occurred after trauma. In contrast, changes in intracellular magnesium concentration were highly significant at all time points.



**Figure 3.** Linear correlation between brain free magnesium changes, phosphorylation potential and neurologic motor outcome following traumatic brain injury in rats. Each point represents the mean and standard error from six animals assessed over a one week period.

functionally insignificant. However, because magnetic resonance spectroscopy is a noninvasive technique, the same authors were able to clearly demonstrate in a follow-up study (16) that the decline in brain intracellular free magnesium concentration was associated with the development of functional deficits in neurologic motor outcome. Indeed, subsequent studies by the same group (16-18) demonstrated that depleting tissue magnesium concentration resulted in an exacerbated neurologic deficit while attenuation of the decline with parenteral magnesium administration prior to the injury significantly improved subsequent neurologic outcome.

The decline in free magnesium after trauma was reflected in a much smaller decline in tissue total magnesium concentration which was limited to the injury zone and did not extend to non-injured tissue (19). Thus the magnesium decline was thought to be indicative of cellular injury. Analysis of the bioenergetic implications of such intracellular changes in free magnesium concentration demonstrated that by affecting the equilibrium constants of the creatine kinase reaction in particular, but also the adenylate kinase and ATPase reactions, there would be significant affects of the ion on posttraumatic bioenergetic state (20, 21). Indeed, a linear relationship between intracellular free magnesium concentration and cytosolic phosphorylation potential following traumatic brain injury was described. Thus, magnesium decline after traumatic brain injury results in a decreased ability of the cell to provide sufficient energy to restore disrupted ion gradients and to repair itself. Consistent with this, magnesium decline following indirect neurotrauma correlated with decline in activity of the Na+ / K+ ATPase and the associated edema development (22). A similar association between magnesium concentration and edema development has been described following direct neurotrauma (19, 23). It is therefore not surprising that both intracellular free magnesium concentration and cytosolic phosphorylation potential are linearly associated with neurologic motor outcome after traumatic brain injury (Figure 3).

While the early studies of direct brain trauma were limited to fluid percussion traumatic brain injury (24, 25), a number of more recent studies have subsequently described similar declines in magnesium concentration following other focal models of injury (26) and even the more diffuse models of acceleration induced brain injury (13, 27). The declines reported in brain intracellular free magnesium concentration ranged between 40% and 60%. The fact that magnesium does decline following trauma irrespective of the injury model suggests that magnesium decline is a ubiquitous feature of central nervous system In support of this hypothesis, declines in injury. magnesium concentration have now also been reported in spinal cord injury (28), drug intoxication (29, 30) and even migraine (31). However, it is notable that the free magnesium decline in any condition never exceeds a minimum value of approximately 0.2 mM, suggesting that this concentration may be a threshold below which the ion cannot fall under physiological conditions. Since free magnesium changes were related to much smaller changes in total tissue magnesium (16), buffering by intracellular ligands presumably prevents any further decline.

The declines in brain free magnesium have been shown to persist for at least 4 days following traumatic brain injury and with increasing severity of injury, out to 7 days (32). Thus, it is not the magnitude of decline that is related to outcome but rather the time period for which magnesium is depressed. This seems to be consistent with observations of magnesium decline following different insults. For example, acute alcohol consumption causes a significant but transient decline in brain free magnesium concentration which does not result in a permanent neurologic deficit (30). In contrast, chronic alcohol consumption, which is known to cause neurologic deficit, causes a persistent decline in brain free magnesium concentration (30, 33). Similarly, mild levels of traumatic brain injury (approaching concussion) result in transient yet significant declines in brain free magnesium concentration and minimal recordable deficits but severe injury results in more prolonged magnesium declines and severe neurologic deficits (16).

## **3.2.** Blood free magnesium following brain injury

The availability of ion selective electrodes for magnesium has meant that blood free magnesium concentration can also be readily measured after brain injury. Similar to brain free magnesium concentration. blood levels of free magnesium in rats significantly decline from a mean preinjury level of approximately 0.50 mM to 0.35 mM by 30 minutes after traumatic brain injury (34). This decline in magnesium persists for at least four days following trauma before recovering to preinjury levels by six days after injury. The temporal profile of blood free magnesium changes was similar to the cytosolic changes observed in rat brain using magnetic resonance techniques. As with the brain determinations, there was a pattern whereby milder levels of injury resulted in transient declines in blood free magnesium while more severe injury caused persistent declines. However, unlike the brain determinations, a relationship between blood free magnesium and outcome only existed for the more severe injury levels. Thus, there was not a clear relationship between blood free magnesium concentration and motor outcome following less severe injury. This is in contrast to brain free magnesium and neurologic outcome (see Figure 3). It therefore appears that it is the brain level of magnesium that is associated with neurologic recovery, suggesting that neuronal effects of magnesium may dominate over non-neuronal effects. Nonetheless, such a simple bedside measure of free magnesium homeostasis may be a convenient prognostic indicator of outcome following severe trauma.

# 4. EXPERIMENTAL TREATMENT STRATEGIES FOLLOWING BRAIN INJURY

# 4.1. Magnesium therapy

Therapies targeting the restoration of magnesium homeostasis have demonstrated beneficial effects on neurologic outcome following traumatic brain injury. The first studies examined whether administration of magnesium salts prior to injury could indeed improve neurologic outcome (16, 17). These studies showed that administration of magnesium sulfate prior to injury improved motor outcome after moderate traumatic brain injury. Moreover, the administration of the salt attenuated the decline of brain intracellular free magnesium concentration after trauma, suggesting that the traumatic event permits the entry of blood magnesium into the brain. Later studies demonstrated that magnesium could be administered 30 minutes after the traumatic event and still have beneficial effects on outcome (18). Moreover, it was not just the motor outcome that showed significant improvement with magnesium therapy. Significant

improvements in cognitive performance also resulted with magnesium sulfate administered intravenously at 30 minutes posttrauma (35) suggesting that the cation is also protective with respect to the hippocampus following This is consistent with demonstrated trauma. neuroprotective properties of magnesium in the hippocampus against a variety of insults (36-40). Heath and Vink (41, 42) subsequently compared the magnesium sulfate and magnesium chloride salts and conclusively demonstrated that both salts improve brain intracellular free magnesium concentration following traumatic brain injury with a resultant improvement in neurologic motor outcome. Moreover, such an improvement in outcome was noted irrespective of the route of administration provided that the blood free magnesium concentration was increased to approximately 1 mM. Thus, administration of a magnesium salt after brain injury will result an improvement in brain free magnesium concentration with resultant improvement in functional outcome.

Dose response studies using both the sulfate and chloride salts have demonstrated that they both improve neurologic motor outcome when administered up to 24 hours after injury (43). The best outcome was, however, achieved when the cation was delivered in the first 12 hours after injury (43). Parenteral administration of the drug was noted to increase both plasma free magnesium concentration and brain intracellular free magnesium concentration confirming that the sulfate and chloride salts of magnesium readily cross the blood brain barrier after trauma. This is consistent with previous pharmacokinetic studies of magnesium salts in neurosurgical patients (44). Moreover, a single bolus of magnesium was as effective as repeated administration in improving motor outcome following diffuse brain trauma (43) with the degree of improvement in motor outcome following drug administration being linearly correlated with brain free magnesium concentration. Thus, the critical period in which to restore magnesium homeostasis appears to occur within the first 24 hours after trauma. Improvement in brain free magnesium concentration during this phase results in a sustained improvement in brain free magnesium homeostasis and subsequent improvement in neurologic outcome.

# 4.2. Other treatment strategies

One of the most intriguing observations in traumatic brain injury has been the association between brain intracellular magnesium concentration and neurologic outcome irrespective of the treatment strategy (45). In other words, pharmacologic interventions that have been shown to improve motor outcome following traumatic brain injury have all caused in an improvement in brain free magnesium concentration after drug administration. For example, thyrotropin releasing hormone analogues (46), nmethyl-D-aspartate antagonists (19, 47), opiate antagonists (48, 49), adenosine agonists (25), apovincaminic acid derivatives (26) and phospholipase C inhibitors (50) have all been shown to increase brain free magnesium concentration after trauma with an associated improvement in neurologic outcome as assessed by motor tests. Conversely, therapeutic interventions that have not shown

any benefit upon brain free magnesium concentration have also not improved neurologic outcome (51). Clearly magnesium is critically involved in a diversity of secondary injury mechanisms. Targeting any of these secondary injury factors will therefore affect magnesium homeostasis and should a large shift in magnesium concentration take place, then a number of other injury factors will also be affected. Given the multifactorial nature of traumatic brain injury, it may be more beneficial to give magnesium salts rather than a single factor inhibitor.

### 5. THE ROLE OF MAGNESIUM

Although the mechanisms by which magnesium is beneficial to outcome following traumatic brain injury are largely unknown, extensive studies have been conducted in an effort to characterize the relationship between magnesium decline and the development of irreversible tissue damage. Magnesium has long been recognized as an important cation necessary for the functioning of over 300 key enzymes involved in energy transformation, protein synthesis, and lipid and nucleic acid metabolism (52). Moreover, any reaction that either produces or consumes ATP has a mandatory requirement for magnesium (53). This includes the enzymes of glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation. Thus, any decline in magnesium concentration following neurotrauma will adversely affect the cells ability to maintain membrane potential and repair itself.

Magnesium is also essential for the stability and normal functioning of the cell membranes (54). Indeed, magnesium depletion has been reported to increase membrane turnover and fluidity and to increase lipid peroxidation (55). Increased lipid peroxidation is indicative of oxidative stress suggesting that magnesium may also play a central role in this process. Hydrolysis of membrane phospholipids and activation of the free fatty acid cascade is strongly related to the generation of reactive oxygen species. These reactive oxygen species initiate further cell damage, in part, through peroxidation of membrane components (56). Moreover, peroxidative reactions themselves initiate complex chain-reactions which generate even more free radicals (57). These free radicals, along with other damaging neurochemical events, have been shown to play an important role in the pathophysiology of CNS injury (58, 59). Indeed, the increase in reactive oxygen species in the brain soon after CNS injury correlates with formation of cerebral oedema, secondary ischemia, and impairment of microvascular regulation (56, 60-63). Regan and colleagues (64) have suggested that the vulnerability of neurons to irondependent oxidative injury is an inverse function of the extracellular magnesium concentration. Their studies demonstrated that magnesium at high concentration directly inhibits lipid peroxidation, most probably by competing with iron for phospholipid binding sites. However, at low magnesium concentrations, increased cell death may be result of to the combined effect of increased n-methyl-Daspartate receptor activity, impairment of antioxidant defense, and direct potentiation of the oxidative stress. Nonetheless, magnesium's direct impact on free radicals

has been recently confirmed (65). Therefore, specific free radical scavenging therapies may be of some utility as a treatment intervention following experimental traumatic brain injury. Certainly these therapies, particularly those using combination magnesium and antioxidant agents, have met with some success in cerebral ischemia (66-68). Recent results from our laboratory support the beneficial effects of magnesium administration in attenuating oxidative stress following indirect neurotrauma. Specifically, magnesium sulfate administered immediately following peripheral trauma in rabbits reduced posttraumatic superoxide anion generation in a number of brain structures. The generation of superoxide anions is generally thought to be the early phase in the development of oxidative stress that culminates in the generation of lipid peroxidation by-products.

membrane-stabilizing The properties of magnesium don't only affect lipid peroxidation and generation of reactive oxygen species, but also impact upon the release of neurotransmitters and other mediators/modulators. Indeed, both glutamate release (69) and acetylcholine release (70) are reduced by the administration of magnesium. Both of these transmitters are increased after trauma (71). Magnesium's effect on glutamate release is perhaps indirect arising largely from the cation's membrane-stabilizing properties. The amount of the acetylcholine released, however, has been shown to be dependent upon Ca2+ and Mg2+-concentrations. While Ca2+ acetylcoholine release increases during neuronal depolarisation, Mg2+ decreases acetylcholine release by stabilizing the membranes of presynaptic vesicles (70). Significant elevations in neurotransmitters, and particularly the excitatory amino acids including glutamate, are among the most important autodestructive responses occurring during the early posttraumatic period after trauma (47, 71). In particular, glutamate activation of n-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) and amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-proprionate / kainate receptors leads to increased intracellular calcium and sodium concentrations which activates a complex cascade of interactive biochemical alterations and subsequent cell death (72). Indeed, the NMDA channel has been implicated as a critical factor in the development of cellular injury following neurotrauma (47). A considerable body of evidence indicates that the magnesium cation is the endogenous regulator of NMDA channel activity (73, 74). It is the specific effects of the ion on the activity of the NMDA channel that has been recently reported to be critical to outcome following central nervous system trauma (75). These authors demonstrate in an in vitro study that the magnesium block of the NMDA channel is reduced after neural injury, and that this reduction may be linked to either a decline in magnesium levels, or a change in the structure of the NMDA channel. Indeed, increasing the magnesium level in culture was neuroprotective. Moreover, other studies have reported that peripherally administered magnesium sulfate results in a significant reduction of the NMDA receptor binding capacity in the rat brain (76). Thus as an endogenous blocker of both NMDA and voltage-gated calcium channels (77), magnesium regulates calcium concentration within a cell and modulates posttraumatic neurochemical changes mediated by these elevated intracellular calcium levels.

Elevations in intracellular calcium concentration not only occur through ionotropic receptors, but also through second-messenger linked receptors. Abundant experimental evidence exists demonstrating that neurotransmitters, hormones and even mechanical damage also increase intracellular calcium concentration through activation of phospholipase C and subsequent hydrolysis of phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-bisphosphate into inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) (78). IP3 is an an intracellular messenger with regulatory effects on nerve cell excitability, neurotransmitter secretion, posttetanic potentiation and differentiation, both in physiological and pathological conditions (79). Magnesium modifies the activity of the IP3-messenger system mainly by reducing the affinity of the receptor for IP3 (80, 81). Therefore, magnesium's role in the defense mechanisms following traumatic brain injury can be partially explained by its activity as an intracellular calcium antagonist acting on IP3-sensitive channels. Bearing in mind that the phosphatidylinositol cycle is involved as a second messenger system in the regulation of various endogenous mediators/modulators, the importance of magnesium's influence on IP3-sensitive calcium channels is evident.

It is now generally accepted that calcium ion influx and its intracellular redistribution are key events following brain injury (82). One of the consequences of calcium influx is initiation of pathways involved in breakdown of lipid membrane constituents and subsequent accumulation of free fatty acids, particularly arachidonic acid (83). At high concentrations, arachidonic acid can inhibit Na+ / K+-ATPase activity and induce cerebral edema, as well as increasing release of neurotransmitters like glutamate and its reuptake (84). There is now strong evidence that magnesium has an important role in the regulation of arachidonic acid metabolism (85). Depletion of intracellular Mg2+ has been shown to reduce incorporation of exogenous arachidonic acid into tissue phospholipids, perhaps by reducing synthesis of arachidonyl CoA and thus modifying the first phase in the incorporation of exogenous fatty acids into membrane phospholipids (86). Moreover, Mg2+ binding to its specific binding site on protein kinase C causes reduced activity of this enzyme, suggesting that some of the effects of intracellular Mg2+ depletion may be mediated through protein kinase C activation. Increased PKC-mediated phosphorylation of enzymes which are involved in arachidonic acid incorporation (CoA synthetase, lysophosphatidylcholine acyl transferase) reduces their activities and subsequently increases the concentration of the free arachidonic acid and its metabolites (85). The between relationship magnesium and phospholipid/arachidonic acid metabolism in traumatic brain injury has been confirmed in our previous study demonstrating that phospholipase C inhibitor neomycin administered immediately prior to traumatic brain injury in rats significantly improved free magnesium concentration, bioenergetic state and neurological outcome (50). Our results thus suggest that phospholipase C-activated second messenger pathways may affect magnesium homeostasis. Phospholipase C is not the only phospholipase enzyme that contributes to neuronal cell death after CNS injury. It has

increased arterial carbon dioxide tension (90). On the other hand, magnesium deficiency has been found to sensitize the vascular epithelium to prostanoids and induces rapid calcium-mediated vasospastic responses in cerebral blood vessels (91). Administration of magnesium decreases vascular resistance and causes vascular dilation (92). Furthermore, recent experimental data have demonstrated that magnesium sulfate injection reverses pressor effects and cerebral vasoconstriction previously induced by noradrenaline (93). These authors suggest direct effects of Mg2+ on the actions of noradrenaline in the cerebral and peripheral vasculature leading to subsequent vasodilation and decrease in vascular resistance. Experimental data published by Chi et al. (94) have described beneficial effects of magnesium on cerebral blood flow in the ischemic brain region, which was superior than the effects of nimodipine. Others have reported that magnesium administration dramatically attenuates mvocardial dysfunction associated with brain damage and caused by excessive release of catecholamines and calcium ion overload (95). Finally, clinical studies have shown that

been established that platelet-activating factor synthesized

through the actions of phospholipase A2 significantly

contributes to posttraumatic ischaemia, inflammatory

changes and the impairment of the cerebral blood flow in

much the same way as the products of the arachidonic acid metabolic cascade (87, 88). The fact that phospholipase-

induced products may also act to chelate magnesium (89) suggests a possible role of phospholipae activity in the

posttraumatic depletion of free magnesium and

magnesium has also been shown to affect physiologic

functions after trauma such as blood flow. Experimental

data have demonstrated that magnesium sulfate

administration increases cerebral blood flow velocity in the

normal intact cerebral vasculature, accompanied by

In addition to the cellular effects described above,

impairments of cellular bioenergetic state (85).

overload (95). Finally, clinical studies have shown that magnesium's effect on the cerebral vascular bed may contribute to the neuroprotection observed following stroke (96). Indeed, the increased blood flow in the penumbral tissue is thought to reduce the size of the eventual infarction.

# 6. CLINICAL STUDIES

Recent evidence in clinical neurotrauma also supports the concept that significant declines in free magnesium concentration occur after penetrating and nonpenetrating head injury and that such a decline may be an important factor determining posttraumatic course and outcome. Significant declines in blood free magnesium concentration have been reported following both direct (97) and indirect clinical neurotrauma (98). These data show that both direct and indirect neurotrauma cause significant changes in divalent cation balance, and that following indirect neurotrauma, these changes are correlated to alterations in oxidative status/antioxidant defense. The fact that the alterations in magnesium homeostasis and oxidative stress were closely related suggests common mechanisms involved in their pathogenesis. Dosedependency of plasma ionized magnesium decline and head

injury severity implicates that measurement of plasma free magnesium should be included in evaluation of patients with traumatic brain injury, planning of treatment and determining prognosis.

### 7. MECHANISTIC CONSIDERATIONS

Few studies have examined how brain total and free magnesium may decline following injury to the central nervous system. It was generally assumed that changes in ligand binding of the ion would regulate free magnesium concentration in keeping with the role that these ligands play in buffering the cation. Thereafter, loss of cells during necrosis or apoptosis might explain the total tissue losses. In support of the free magnesium decline, Vink (89) demonstrated that phospholipase C activity results in decline in free magnesium levels in ATP loaded membrane vesicles. This could only have occurred by increasing the magnesium binding sites in the membranes. However, this would not explain total tissue losses. Moreover, histologic examination of injured tissue does not support the loss of over 10% of the total tissue which is what the total tissue magnesium loss amounts to. Therefore, there must be some active transport of magnesium out of the brain thereby reducing total CNS content. In keeping with the finding that increased adenylate cyclase activity results in loss of total magnesium content from mitochondria (99. 100), one possibility is that activation of this enzyme results in extrusion of mitochondrial magnesium with subsequent loss from the cell down its concentration gradient. Although this is simply conjecture at this point of time, characterisation of magnesium transporters and the development of specific antagonists may not only rationalise the changes in tissue magnesium, but also lead to an entire new therapeutic strategy to be investigated.

### 8. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we have summarized a growing body of both experimental and clinical evidence indicating that magnesium decline plays a critical role in the development of irreversible tissue damage following direct and indirect neurotrauma. Moreover, the fact that magnesium has now been shown to be neuroprotective in both focal and diffuse forms of brain injury suggests that the magnesium ion plays a ubiquitous role in determining functional outcome following brain injury.

## 9. REFERENCES

1. Gennarelli T.A: Animate models of human head injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 11, 357-368 (1994).

2. Lighthall J.W. & T.E. Anderson: In vivo models of experimental brain and spinal cord trauma. In: The Neurobiology of Central Nervous System Trauma. Eds: Salzman S.K., Faden A.I., Oxford University Press, New York, NY, 3-11 (1994)

3. Anderson T.E. & J.W Lighthall: An evaluation of experimental brain injury models: need for continuing development. In: Mild to Moderate Head Injury. Eds: Hoff J.T, Anderson T.E, Cole T.M, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Boston, CT, 77-91 (1989)

4. Faden A.I: Experimental neurobiology of central nervous system trauma. *Crit Rev Neurobiol* 7, 175-186 (1993)

5. Cormio M, C.S. Robertson & R.K. Narayan: Secondary insults to the injured brain. *J Clin Neurosci* 4, 132-148 (1997)

6. Povlishock J.T. & C.W. Christman: The pathobiology of traumatically induced axonal injury in animals and humans: a review of current thoughts. *J Neurotrauma* 12, 555-563 (1995)

7. McIntosh T.K: Neurochemical sequelae of traumatic brain injury. *Cereb Brain Metab Rev* 6, 109-162 (1994)

8. Cernak I, J. Savic, Z. Malicevic, G. Zunic, P. Radosevic & I. Ivanovic: Involvement of the central nervous system in the general response to pulmonary blast injury. *J Trauma* 40, S100-S103 (1996)

9. Faden A.I. & S. Salzman: Pharmacological strategies in CNS trauma. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 13, 29-35 (1992)

10. Faden A.I: Pharmacologic treatment of acute traumatic brain injury. *J Amer Med Assoc* 276, 569-570 (1996)

11. Vink R. & T.K. McIntosh: Pharmacological and physiological effects of magnesium on experimental traumatic brain injury. *Magnesium Res* 3, 163-169 (1990)

12. Cernak I, P. Radosevic, Z. Malicevic & J. Savic: Experimental magnesium depletion in adult rabbits through blast overpressure. *Magnesium Res* 8, 249-259 (1995)

13. Heath D.L. & R. Vink: Traumatic brain axonal injury produces sustained decline in intracellular free magnesium concentration. *Brain Research* 738, 150-153 (1996)

14. Shapira Y, A.M. Lam, A.A. Artru, C. Eng & L. Soltow: Ketamine alters calcium and magnesium in brain tissue following experimental head trauma in rats. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 13, 962-968 (1993)

15. Vink R, T.K. McIntosh, P. Demediuk & A.I. Faden: Decrease in total and free magnesium concentration following traumatic brain injury in rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 149, 594-599 (1987)

16. Vink R, T.K. McIntosh, P. Demediuk, M.W. Weiner & A.I. Faden: Decline in intracellular free magnesium concentration is associated with irreversible tissue injury following brain trauma. *J Biol Chem* 263, 757-761 (1988)

17. McIntosh T.K, A.I. Faden, I. Yamakami & R. Vink: Magnesium deficiency exacerbates and pretreatment improves outcome following traumatic brain injury in rats:

<sup>31</sup>P magnetic resonance spectroscopy and behavioural studies. *J Neurotrauma*. 5, 17-31 (1988)

18. McIntosh T.K, R. Vink, I. Yamakami & A.I. Faden: Magnesium protects against neurological deficit after brain injury. *Brain Res* 482, 252-260 (1989)

19. McIntosh T.K, R. Vink, H. Soares, R.L. Hayes & R.P. Simon: Effect of noncompetitive blockade of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors on the neurochemical sequelae of experimental brain injury. *J Neurochem* 55, 1170-1179 (1990)

20. Vink R, A.I. Faden & T.K. McIntosh: Changes in cellular bioenergetic state following graded traumatic brain injury in rats: determination by phosphorus-31 magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *J Neurotrauma* 5, 365-380 (1988)

21. Vink R, E.M. Golding & J.P. Headrick: Bioenergetic analysis of oxidative metabolism following traumatic brain injury in rats. *J Neurotrauma* 11, 265-274 (1994)

22. Cernak I, Z. Malicevic, V. Prokic, D. Zunic, D. Djurdjevic, S. Ilic & J. Savich: Indirect neurotrauma caused

by pulmonary blast injury: Development and prognosis. Int Rev Armed Forces Med. Serv 70, 114-120 (1997)

23. Soares H.D, M. Thomas, K. Cloherty & T.K. McIntosh: Development of prolonged focal cerebral edema and regional cation changes following experimental brain injury in the rat. *J Neurochem* 58, 1845-1852 (1992)

24. Vink R, T.K. McIntosh & A.I. Faden: Magnesium in neurotrauma: it's role and therapeutic implications. In: Magnesium and Excitable Membranes. Eds: Strata P, Carbone E, Springer-Verlag; Berlin, 695-701 (1991)

25. Headrick J.P, M.R. Bendall, A.I. Faden & R. Vink: Dissociation of adenosine levels from bioenergetic state in experimental brain trauma: potential role in secondary injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 14, 853-861 (1994)

26. Suzuki M, M. Nishina, M. Endo, K. Matsushita, M. Tetsuka, K. Shima & S. Okuyama: Decrease in cerebral free magnesium concentration following closed head injury and effects of VA-045 in rats. *Gen Pharmacol* 28, 119-121 (1997)

27. Smith D.H, K.M. Cecil, D.F. Meaney, X.H. Chen, T.K. McIntosk, T.A. Gennarelli & R.E. Lenkinski: Magnetic resonance spectroscopy of diffuse brain trauma in the pig. *J Neurotrauma* 15, 665-674 (1998)

28. Vink R, S.W. Yum, M. Lemke, P. Demediuk & A.I. Faden: Traumatic spinal cord injury in rabbits decreases intracellular free magnesium concentration as measured by 31

<sup>31</sup>P MRS. *Brain Res* 490, 144-147 (1989)

29. Altura B.M. & R.K. Gupta: Cocaine induces intracellular free Mg deficits, ischemia and stroke as observed by in-vivo  ${}^{31}$ P NMR of the brain. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1111, 271-274 (1992)

30. Mullins P.G.M. & R. Vink: Chronic alcohol exposure decreases brain intracellular free magnesium concentration in rats. *Neuroreport* 6, 1633-1636 (1995)

31. Ramadan N.M, H. Halvorson, A. Vande-Linde, S.R. Levine, J.A. Helpern & K.M.A. Welch: Low brain magnesium in migraine. *Headache* 29, 416-419 (1989)

32. Vink R, D.L. Heath & T.K. McIntosh: Acute and prolonged alterations in brain free magnesium following fluid percussion induced brain trauma in rats. *J Neurochem* 66, 2477-2483 (1996)

33. Altura B.M: Ethanol promotes rapid depletion of intracellular free Mg in cerebral vascular smooth muscle cells - possible relation to alcohol induced behavioural and stroke like effects. *Alcohol* 10, 563-566 (1993)

34. Heath D.L. & R. Vink: Blood free magnesium concentration declines following graded experimental traumatic brain injury. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 58, 161-166 (1998)

35. Smith D.H, K. Okiyama, T.A. Gennarelli & T.K. McIntosh: Magnesium and ketamine attenuate cognitive dysfunction following experimental brain injury. *Neurosci Lett* 157, 211-214 (1993)

36. Kass I.S, J.E. Cottrell & G. Chambers: Magnesium and cobalt, not nimodipine, protect neurons against anoxic damage in the rat hippocampal slice. *Anesthesiol* 69, 710-715 (1988)

37. Bekkers J.M. & C.F. Stevens: NMDA receptors at excitatory synapses in the hippocampus: test of a theory of magnesium block. *Neurosci Lett* 156, 73-77 (1993)

38. Tsuda T, K. Kogure, K. Nishioka & T. Watanabe: Mg2+ administered up to twenty-four hours following reperfusion prevents ischemic damage of the CA1 neurons in the rat hippocampus. *Neurosci* 44, 335-341 (1991)

39. Wolf G, S. Fischer, P. Hass, K. Abicht K & G. Keilhoff: Magnesium sulfate subcutaneously injected protects against kainate-induced convulsions and neurodegeneration: in vivo study on the rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 43, 31-34 (1991)

40. Zhang A.M, S.H. Fan, T.P.O. Cheng, B.T. Altura,

R.K.S. Wong & B.M. Altura: Extracellular Mg<sup>2+</sup>

modulates intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  in acutely isolated hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells of the guinea-pig. *Brain Research* 728, 204-208 (1996)

41. Heath D.L. & R. Vink: Neuroprotective effects of MgSO4 and MgCl2 in closed head injury: a comparative phosphorus NMR study. *J Neurotrauma* 15, 183-189 (1998)

42. Heath D.L. & R. Vink: Optimisation of magnesium therapy following severe diffuse axonal brain injury in rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 288, 1311-1316 (1999)

43. Heath D.L. & R. Vink: Delayed therapy with magnesium up to 24 h following traumatic brain injury improves motor outcome. *J Neurosurg* 90, 504-509 (1999)

44. Fuchs-Buder T, M.R. Tramer & E. Tassonyi: Cerebrospinal fluid passage of intravenous magnesium sulfate in neurosurgical patients. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol* 9, 324-328 (1997)

45. Vink R: Nuclear magnetic resonance characterization of secondary mechanisms following traumatic brain injury. *Molec Chem Neuropath* 18, 279-297 (1993)

46. Vink R, T.K. McIntosh & A.I. Faden: Treatment with the thyrotropin-releasing hormone analog CG3703 restores magnesium homeostasis following traumatic brain injury in rats. *Brain Res* 460, 184-188 (1988)

47. Faden AI, P. Demediuk, S.S. Panter & R. Vink: Excitatory amino acids, N-methyl-D-asparate receptors and traumatic brain injury. *Science* 244, 798-800 (1989)

48. Vink R, T.K. McIntosh, R. Rhomhanyi & A.I. Faden: Opiate antagonist nalmefene improves intracellular free magnesium, bioenergetic state and neurologic outcome following traumatic brain injury in rats. *J Neurosci* 10, 3524-3530 (1990)

49. Vink R, P.S. Portoghese & A.I. Faden: Kappa-opioid antagonist improves cellular bioenergetics and recovery after traumatic brain injury. *Am J Physiol* 261, 1527-1532 (1991)

50. Golding E.M. & R. Vink: Inhibition of phospholipase c with neomycin improves metabolic and neurologic outcome following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Research* 668, 46-53 (1994)

51. Golding E.M. & R. Vink: Efficacy of competitive versus non-competitive blockade of the NMDA channel following traumatic brain injury is associated with restoration of magnesium homeostasis. *Molec Chem Neuropath* 24, 137-150 (1995)

52. Birch NJ: Magnesium and the Cell. Academic Press, London (1993)

53. Ebel H. & T. Gunther: Magnesium metabolism: a review. *J Clin Chem Clin Biochem* 18, 257-270 (1980)

54. Bara M. & A. Guiet-Bara: Potassium, magnesium and membranes. Review of present status and new findings. *Magnesium* 3, 212-225 (1984)

55. Gunther T, V. Hollriegl, J. Vormann, J. Bubeck & H.G. Classen: Increased lipid peroxidation in rat tissues by magnesium deficiency and vitamin E depletion. *Magnes Bull* 16, 38-43 (1994)

56. Kontos H.A. & J.T. Povlishock: Oxygen radicals in brain injury. *Cent. Nerv. Syst. Trauma*. 3, 257-63 (1986)

57. Kirsch J.R, M.A. Helfaer, D.G. Lange & R.J. Traystman: Evidence for free radical mechanisms of brain injury resulting from ischemia/reperfusion-induced events. *J. Neurotrauma* 9, S157-163 (1992)

58. Hall E.D: The role of oxygen radicals in traumatic injury: clinical implications. *J Emerg Med* 11, 31-36 (1993)

59. Awasthi D, D.F. Church, D. Torbati, M.E. Carey & W.A. Pryor: Oxidative stress following traumatic brain injury in rats. *Surg Neurol* 47, 575-581 (1997)

60. Povlishock J.T. & H.A. Kontos: The role of oxygen radicals in the pathobiology of traumatic brain injury. *Human Cell* 5, 345-543 (1992)

61. Wei E.P, H.A. Kontos & J.S. Beckman: Mechanisms of cerebral vasodilation by superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and peroxynitrite. *Am J Physiol* 271, H1262-1266 (1996)

62. Farbiszewski R, J. Ustymowicz & H. Dudek: Participation of free radicals in the mechanism of brain tissue damage. *Neurol Neurochir Pol* 27, 729-37 (1993)

63. Kontos H.A. & E.P. Wei: Superoxide production in experimental brain injury. *J Neurosurg* 64, 803-807 (1986)

64. Regan R.F, E. Jasper, Y. Guo & S.S. Panter: The effect of magnesium on oxidative neuronal injury in vitro. *J Neurochem* 70, 77-85 (1998)

65. Garcia L.A, S.C. Dejong, S.M. Martin, R.S. Smith, G.R. Buettner & R.E. Kerber: Magnesium reduces free radicals in an vivo coronary occlusion-reperfusion model. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 32, 536-9 (1998)

66. Thordstein M, R. Bagenholm, K. Thiringer & I. Kjellmer: Scavengers of free oxygen radicals in combination with magnesium ameliorate perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in the rat. *Pediatr Res* 34, 23-6 (1993)

67. Sterz F, K. Janata, I. Kurkciyan, M. Mullner, R. Malzer & W. Schreiber: Possibilities of brain protection with tirilazad after cardiac arrest. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 22, 105-112 (1996)

68. Schmid-Elsaesser R, S. Zausinger, E. Hungerhuber, A. Baethmann & H.J. Reulen: Neuroprotective effects of combination therapy with tirilazad and magnesium in rats subjected to reversible focal cerebral ischemia. *Neurosurg* 44, 163-71 (1999)

69. Rothman S.M: Synaptic activity mediates death of hypoxic neurons. *Science* 220, 536-537 (1983)

70. James M.F.M: Clinical use of magnesium infusions in anesthesia. *Anesth Analg* 74, 129-136 (1992)

71.Hayes R.L, L.W. Jenkins & B.G. Lyeth: Neurotransmitter mediated mechanisms of traumatic brain injury: acetylcholine and excitatory amino acids. In: Central Nervous System Trauma Status Report – 1991. Eds: Jane J.A, Anderson D.K, Torner J.C, Young W, Mary Ann Liebert, New York, 173-188 (1992)

72. Choi D.W: Calcium-mediated neurotoxicity: relationship to specific channel types and role in ischemic damage. *Trends Neurol Sci* 11, 465-469 (1988)

73. Nowak L, P. Bregstovski, P. Ascher, A. Herbert & A. Prochiantz: Magnesium gates glutamate-activated channels in mouse central neurons. *Nature* 307, 462-465 (1984)

74. Choi D.W: Excitotoxic cell death. *J Neurobiol* 23, 1261-1276 (1992)

75. Zhang L, B.A. Rzigalinski, E.F. Ellis & L.S. Satin:

Reduction of voltage-dependent Mg<sup>2+</sup> blockade of NMDA current in mechanically injured neurons. *Science* 274, 1921-1923 (1996)

76. Hallak M, R.F. Berman, S.M. Irtenkauf, C.A. Janusz & D.B. Cotton: Magnesium sulphate treatment decreases N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor binding in the rat brain - an autoradiographic study. *J Soc Gynecol Invest* 1, 25-30 (1994)

77. Iseri L.T. & J.H. French: Magnesium: nature's physiologic calcium blocker. *Am Heart J* 108, 188-193 (1984)

78. Farese R.V: The phosphatidate-phosphoinositide cycle: an intracellular messenger system in the action of hormones and neurotransmitters. *Metabolism* 32, 628-41 (1983)

79. Berridge M.J. & R.F. Irvine: Inositol triphosphates and cell signalling. *Nature* 341, 197-205 (1989)

80. Volpe P, B.H. Alderson-Lang & G.A. Nickols: Regulation of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate-induced Ca2+ release. I. Effect of Mg2+. *Am J Physiol* 258, C1077-1085 (1990)

81. Volpe P. & L. Volpe: Intracellular magnesium and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor: molecular mechanisms of interaction, physiology and pharmacology. *Magnes Res* 6, 267-74 (1993)

82. Young W: Role of calcium in central nervous system injuries. In: Central Nervous System Trauma Status Report – 1991. Eds: Jane J.A, Anderson D.K, Torner J.C, Young W, Mary Ann Liebert, New York, 9-25 (1992)

83. Kristian T. & B.K. Siesjo: Calcium in ischemic cell death. *Stroke* 29, 705-18 (1998)

84. Yu A.C, P.H. Chan & R.A. Fishman: Effects of arachidonic acid on glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid uptake in primary cultures of rat cerebral cortical astrocytes and neurons. *J Neurochem* 47, 1181-1189 (1986) 85. Weis M.T. & C. Saunders: Magnesium and arachidonic acid metabolism. *Magnes Res* 6, 179-190 (1993)

86. Reddy T.S. & N.G. Bazan: Kinetic properties of arachidonoyl-coenzyme A synthetase in rat brain microsomes. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 226, 125-133 (1983)

87. Bazan N.G, A.B. Rodriguez de Turco & G. Allan: Mediators of injury in neurotrauma: intracellular signal transduction and gene expression. *J Neurotrauma* 12, 791-814 (1995)

88. Bazan N.G: The neuromessenger platelet-activating factor in plasticity and neurodegeneration. *Prog Brain Res* 118, 281-91 (1998)

89. Vink R: Phospholipase C activity reduces free magnesium concentration. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 165, 913-918 (1989)

90. Ludbrook G.L, M.F. James & R.N. Upton: The effect of magnesium sulfate on cerebral blood flow velocity, cardiovascular variables, and arterial carbon dioxide tension in awake sheep. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol* 11, 96-101 (1999)

91. Altura B.M, B.T. Altura & A. Gebrewold: Alcoholinduced spasms of cerebral blood vessels: relation to cerebrovascular accidents and sudden death. *Science* 220, 331-333 (1983)

92. Seelig J.M, E.P. Wei, H.A. Kontos, S.C. Choi & D.P. Becker: Effect of changes in magnesium ion concentration on cat cerebral arterioles. *Am J Physiol* 245, 22-26 (1983)

93. Perales A.J, G. Torregrosa, J.B. Salom, M.D. Barbera, T. Jover & E. Alborch E: Effects of magnesium sulphate on the noradrenaline-induced cerebral vasoconstrictor and pressor responses in the goat. *B J Obstet Gynaecol* 104, 898-903 (1997)

94. Chi O.Z, P. Pollak & H.R. Weiss: Effects of magnesium sulfate and nifedipine on regional cerebral blood flow during middle cerebral artery ligation in the rat. *Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther* 304, 196-205 (1990)

95. Caspi J, J.G. Coles, L.N. Benson, S.L. Herman & J. Augustine: Dose-related effects of magnesium on myocardial function in the neonate. *Hypertension* 23, 174-178 (1994)

96. Muir K.W: New experimental and clinical data on the efficacy of pharmacological magnesium infusions in cerebral infarcts. *Magnes Res* 11, 43-56 (1998)

97. Memon Z.I, B.T. Altura, J.L. Benjamin, R.Q. Cracco & B.M. Altura: Predictive value of serum ionized but not total magnesium levels in head injuries. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 55, 671-677 (1995)

98. Cernak I, V.J. Savic, J. Kotur, V. Prokic, M. Veljovic & D. Grbovic: Characterization of plasma magnesium concentration and oxidative stress following graded traumatic brain injury in humans. *J Neurotrauma* 17:53-68 (2000)

99. Romani A. & A. Scarpa: Hormonal control of Mg<sup>2+</sup> transport in the heart. *Nature* 346, 841-844 (1990)

100. Wolf F.I, A.D. Francesco, V. Covacci & A. Cittadini: cAMP activates magnesium efflux via the Na/Mg antiporter in ascites cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm* 202, 1209-1214 (1994)

Keywords:Neurotrauma; Brain; Spinal Cord; Therapy; Magnetic Resonance, Review

Send correspondence to: Robert Vink, PhD, Physiology and Pharmacology, James Cook University, Townsville, Qld 4811, Australia, Tel: 61-7-4781 5041, Fax. 61-7-4781 5674, E-mail: Robert.Vink@jcu.edu.au, Ibolja.Cernak@jcu.edu.au

This manuscript is available on line at:

http://www.bioscience.org/2000/d/vink/fulltext.htm